
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Tuesday, 5 March 2019 at 6.00 pm

Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite, Solihull

Economic Development and 
Managed Growth Scrutiny Board 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors M Parker (Chairman), R Grinsell 
(Vice-Chairman), A Adeyemo, K Allsopp, 
K Blunt, K Hawkins, M McLoughlin, 
A Rebeiro and C Williams

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121 704 6000 

Paul Rogers
Tel: 0121 704 6550
Email:paul.rogers@solihull.gov.uk 

Date: Tuesday, 26 February 2019

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  
Tuesday, 5 March 2019

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

4. MINUTES (Pages 5 - 14)

To consider for approval the Minutes arising from the Economic Development 
and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board meeting held on 17th January 2019.

5. SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING DELIVERY PLAN 2019/20 (Pages 15 - 
40)

The purpose of the report is to present the draft Solihull Community Housing 
Delivery Plan 2019/20 for consideration of the Scrutiny Board and for Members 
to make any recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Housing.

6. KINGSHURST TOWN CENTRE (Pages 41 - 52)

As part of the work plan for 2018/2019, the Scrutiny Board requested a report on 
Kingshurst Village Centre Regeneration focussing on how the programme is 
building in the future opportunities for all parts of the community to benefit.



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

1 

MINUTES

Present: Councillors: M Parker (Chairman), A Adeyemo,  K Hawkins, K 
Blunt, M McLoughlin, C Williams, K Allsopp and D Holl-Allen 
(Substitute)  

Guests: Chris Lane (Transport for West Midlands)
Tim Rudman (Resorts World)
Phil Farrell (Urban Growth Company – UGC)

Officers: Perry Wardle (Assistant Director, Growth and Development)
Alan Smith (Head of Growth Programmes)
Lucy Lee (Finance Manager)
Ashley Prior (Head of Highway Services) 
Sangeeta Leahy (Public Health), 
Paul Rogers (Democratic Services) 

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board meeting 
commenced at 6:00 p.m.

1. APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R Grinsell (Councillor Mrs 
Holl-Allen MBE substituting).

2.      DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

3.      QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

No questions or deputations were submitted.

4. MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

The Minutes arising from the Economic Development and Managed Growth 
Scrutiny Board meeting held on 13th November 2018 were confirmed as a 
correct record, subject to the correction of a typo on page 8, line 2 to be 
amended from ‘cross-bounder’ to ‘cross-boundary’.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

2 

5. SOLIHULL CLEAN AIR STRATEGY 2019-2024

The Consultant for Public Health introduced the report.  Members were 
informed that the report provided the Scrutiny Board with an update on the 
development of the Solihull Clean Air Strategy 2019-2024 and provided a 
further opportunity for Members to comment before the Strategy passed to 
Cabinet for approval on 7th February 2019.

Two Member Clean Air Strategy workshops had been facilitated seeking all 
Members input to the draft Strategy.  The Clean Air Strategy was a planned five 
year strategy, which would be subject to updating during the life of the strategy.  
An annual review would be undertaken of the strategy once implemented. A 
total of six themes comprised the Strategy, which consisted of short, medium 
and long-term objectives.  Extensive consultation had been undertaken and 
included all Council Members, Cabinet, Corporate Leadership Team, Assistant 
Directors Group and the Health and Well Being Board.  Implementation and 
delivery of the Clean Air Strategy is to be overseen by the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Environment &Housing.

In response to questions raised by Members of the Scrutiny Board, Members 
were further informed of the following:

Engagement and consultation with residents and the wider public was 
recognised as on-going through the life of the Strategy.  Several of the actions 
detailed within the Strategy were dependent upon engagement with local 
schools and community groups.  The Council would also support local 
community groups undertaking their own air quality sampling with technical 
advice and support.

The Strategy would be a live document and would be updated accordingly. For 
example, the Council is already planning  to engage with registered users of 
wood burning stoves in the borough, as they were a recognised source of 
particulate matter.  The on-going engagement was viewed as a wider public 
educational programme in respect of air quality in the borough.  The Air Quality 
Survey data arising from the year long air quality monitoring programme would 
also be made public and available on-line.

The planting of trees in known pollution hotspots (as detailed in the 
Environment Action Plan) was classed as a medium- term objective rather than 
immediate objective based on current planning policy, scheduled housing and 
highways development and the Council was confident that tree planting in 
some locations fell under a three- year action.   For example, when considering 

Page 6



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

3 

future planning applications, tree planting and the green infrastructure 
requirements would be taken into consideration as part of the application.

An air quality monitoring station was located at Birmingham Airport, with air 
quality readings showing that the legal air quality requirements were met, other 
than for ozone readings. A total of 28 diffusion air quality monitoring sites were 
in the borough.  The data from the twelve months trial monitoring period has 
resulted in some monitoring locations being changed, and  the Air Quality 
Monitoring Steering Group has approved further monitoring sites which 
commenced in January 2019.  Both particulate matter (PM) and NO2 
monitoring will also be undertaken at three locations in the borough, through  
AQ Mesh mobile units.  Monitoring on the A45 will be also be undertaken at 
seven sites in triplicate for DEFRA reporting purposes.

In terms of sustainable modes of travel, Members were advised that although 
electric vehicles (EV) were considered a better environmental option than petrol 
or diesel vehicles, EV still produced a detectable level of PM.  Walking and 
cycling remained the most sustainable mode of travel.

In response to the Scrutiny Board seeking definition for how ‘success’  was 
presented in terms of the outcomes arising from the Solihull Air Quality 
Strategy, Members were advised that the hard data arising from 
implementation of the strategy itself and air quality monitoring trial would 
provide some measure for success.  There would also be examples of ‘soft 
data’ arising, such as the level of success arising from public consultation and 
engagement initiatives e.g. engagement workshops, evident changes in public 
travel behaviours.  It was also noted that DEFRA were very supportive for the 
Council to undertake traffic surveys to ascertain the extent of any modal shift 
occurring in the borough.

In terms of future monitoring arrangements for the Solihull Air Quality Strategy, 
both Cabinet and Corporate Leadership Team requested six monthly updates 
via Member briefings. It is to be proposed that the current Air Quality Steering 
Group remains in place, and that the air quality working group stands down to 
be replaced by six task themed groups which would also report back annually 
to the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board as part of 
the Boards on-going annual work programme.

To support the on-going review of the Air Quality Monitoring Strategy, the 
Chairman requested that the minutes arising from any future Steering Group/ 
themed action groups were also made available to the Scrutiny Board in order 
to support its review of the strategy.  Furthermore, the Chairman stated that he 

Page 7



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

4 

would like all Ward Members to have the opportunity to input as to where the 
monitoring diffusion tubes should be located in their wards in order to ensure 
that any prospective pollution hotspots or new, intensive development sites 
were duly recognised.

In respect of some phrasing used in the draft strategy, the Scrutiny Board 
referenced the introduction and assertion that vehicles travelling at slower 
speeds caused higher emissions. The Scrutiny Board noted this was not 
necessarily the case and that the intermittency of speed (i.e. stop/start) was the 
greater cause of higher emission levels.

The Scrutiny Board did not agree with the reference within the draft strategy 
which stated rail travel negatively impacted on air quality, considering studies 
finding that rail was a cleaner mode of travel than private car transport for 
producing NO2 emissions. The Consultant in Public Health clarified for the 
Scrutiny Board that the reference pertained to diesel freight trains passing 
through stations and acknowledged that efforts continued nationally to make 
train journeys cleaner still in terms of emissions.  

The Scrutiny Board also referred to the projected passenger growth at 
Birmingham Airport in future years from fifteen to eighteen million, as well as 
the advent of HS2, both of which were likely to exacerbate problems with 
management of air quality.

In terms of the draft strategy’s reference to Workplace Travel Plans, the 
Scrutiny Board agreed that it would prefer to see fewer, effective plans put in 
place, which could be properly supported, monitored, evaluated and used as a 
future model for the wider Council.

Members noted that whilst it was recognised that EV’s were a positive step 
towards addressing the production of PM’s, they were still capable of producing 
PM 2.5, which would be increased significantly with a switch nationally from 
petrol/diesel to electric,  and that this should be acknowledged within the 
strategy.

RESOLVED:

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board 
supported the development of the Solihull Clean Air Strategy 2019-2024: 

Page 8



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

5 

1. To provide comments to the Consultant in Public Health regarding 
the draft Strategy to enable any changes required before the 
Cabinet meeting scheduled for 7th February 2019; 

2.  That the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny 
Board programmes the annual review of the Solihull Clean Air 
Strategy into its future forward work programmes to be taken at 
the Scrutiny Board every March; 

3. An additional column will be added against the six themes 
detailed in the Solihull Air Quality Strategy providing a definition 
as to what shape success would take against the strategies short, 
medium- and long-term targets;

4. To request that the Consultant in Public Health e-mails all Council 
Members seeking their comment concerning any potential 
pollution hotspots or significant development sites within their 
wards for the potential future placement of air quality monitoring 
diffusion tubes; 

5. To request of the Consultant in Public Health that any future Air 
Quality engagement event intended for Council Members is 
facilitated at a convenient time in order to accommodate  those 
Members who work full-time; and,

6. To recommend to the Consultant in Public Health and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder Environment & Housing that they review the 
policy implemented by Birmingham City Council in respect of taxi 
licensing arrangements to support the introduction of EV taxi 
fleets.

6. THE UKC HUB (ZONE 1) – MAXIMISING THE OPPORTUNITY FOR 
SOLIHULL AND THE WEST MIDLANDS 

The Head of Growth Programmes introduced the report. Members were 
informed that the report detailed the anticipated economic growth arising in the 
designated Hub area and further detailed how the distinct phases of planned 
development within the Hub area could be maximised for the economic benefit 
of residents.

It was noted that the HS2 interchange planned for 2026 would increase 
connectivity and economic growth in the region through the Arden Cross site.  
In conjunction with the Hub proposals, Birmingham Airport had published its 

Page 9



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

6 

Masterplan, the NEC and Birmingham Business Park had plans for further 
expansion and JLR had continued long term growth aspirations to produce 
electric and autonomous vehicles.  In economic and managed growth terms 
these were obvious positives for the region, but there were some challenges 
and issues to be addressed in order to successfully deliver the growth potential 
of the Hub.

Potential congestion around the Hub is recognised as a potential barrier to 
growth. The M42 and existing arterial routes in the area experiencing 
congestion at peak times and whilst junction improvements could be 
undertaken to help alleviate the problems, further highway construction did not 
provide a means of addressing all of these issues in the future. It was 
recognised that encouraging people onto sustainable modes of transport, 
supporting modal shift and supplying quality public transport systems was a 
important means of ensuring continued sustained economic growth in the area.  
The Council was working with a range of partners to address the above, which 
included local businesses, chambers of commerce, the procurement chain and  
local communities. 

Mr Phil Farrell (UGC), Mr Tim Rudman (Resorts World) and Mr Chris Lane 
(Transport for West Midlands) presented to the Scrutiny Board regarding 
project implementation of the respective phases of the Hub proposals, 
accessing employment opportunities in the Hub area and associated transport 
infrastructure issues.

In response to questions raised by Members of the Scrutiny Board, Members 
were further informed of the following:

In seeking further clarity and a definition supporting an understanding of what 
was meant by references to ‘inclusive growth’, Members were advised that this 
was an issue for the Scrutiny Board to consider and discuss further.  In the 
immediate term, the foreseen benefits arising for Solihull residents from the 
Hub development included an improved quality of life, for example through 
accessing greater employment opportunities, as well as an improved, high 
quality environment.  The inclusive growth agenda was also seen to reach 
disadvantaged and hard to reach groups in the borough to ensure they have 
equitable access to new employment opportunities.  The approach to delivering 
inclusive growth entailed a series of project delivery activities addressing 
transport, wider economic infrastructure and supporting business growth.

Key considerations for economic inclusive growth and the need to address 
wider societal issues such as isolation, mental health and dependency issues, 
which entailed a whole Council and partnership approach.  The Council Plan, 
for example, discussed delivery of universal, targeted and specialist services 
and it was recognised that the inclusive economic growth agenda might 
similarly adopt a tailored approach for delivering in specific areas of the 
borough to ensure equitable and accessible growth for all residents.  This 
approach has been recognised through the Solihull Together Board.  The 
Scrutiny Board acknowledged the approach towards delivering inclusive 

Page 10



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

7 

growth, but also noted that inclusive growth was not a geographically defined 
issue.

Regarding the project implementation timescales detailed in the report, the 
Scrutiny Board noted that economic benefits would accrue the sooner the 
projects were delivered through the programme, but queried what risks were 
associated with the programme timescale. The significant risks were principally 
seen to be implementation programme for HS2, some junction improvement 
works and further development of Birmingham International Station being 
dependent on other elements of the programme in order to progress.  It was 
recognised, however, that it was inherent with the scale of the projects / phases 
involved in the Hub area that there would be an element of risk associated with 
programmes of such scale and complexity. 

In respect of public transport infrastructure and connectivity, specifically 
provision of bus routes to access employment opportunities in the Hub, the 
Scrutiny Board sought further detail on what studies had been undertaken to 
prove to the bus operators that demand for routes existed. Members were 
informed that a trial had taken place, but this was cancelled.  Evidence of 
demand for new routes in the Hub area was largely anecdotal at this time. 

The Scrutiny Board was informed that Resorts World had jointly funded a bus 
route trial in 2018, but such support was not financially feasible in the longer 
term for private business operators located in the Hub area.  Resorts World 
employ over 1,400 employees who worked non-standard shift patterns, which 
presented issues for employees working late at night in terms of catching final 
bus services from the site.  This presented significant issues for those staff who 
were not able to own their own transport and it was recognised that the issue of 
public transport access and connectivity had to be addressed directly with 
TfWM and the commercial bus operators going forward.  Accessibility to the 
site via public transport for both employees and the public seeking to access 
the Hubs night time economy was also noted by the Scrutiny Board as an issue 
requiring attention and a joint approach through the WMCA, TfWM, Solihull 
Council and the commercial transport operators, especially if the Councils 
Inclusive Growth Strategy was to be delivered successfully.  The issue of 
access for the public to late night transport provision was an issue of demand 
versus on-going subsidy.

The Scrutiny Board noted that the scalability of the Hub site in respect of any 
application for future Garden City status was not sufficient in terms of the 
number of dwellings on the site.

The Assistant Director for Growth & Development advised the Scrutiny Board 
that in relation to the Board’s discussion, UGC was the body responsible for co-
ordinating the respective programmes delivery in the Hub area.  Parking access 
at the Arden Cross site for the next ten to fifteen years was under review as a 
component of the wider Hub programmes.  Solihull Council held responsibility 
for the wider transport policy. The robustness of partnership working already in 

Page 11



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

8 

place to deliver the Hub programmes was evident by the presence of several 
partners at the Scrutiny Board meeting.

With specific reference to Birmingham Airport, it was noted that the airport 
authority had indicated it wanted future provision of wider roads to cater for its 
projected passenger growth and it was questioned how this would fit with the 
policy for greater provision of public transport and encouraging modal shift.  
Members were informed that although there were proposals for increasing the 
capacity of the local road/motorway network, such expansion was not for the 
sole benefit of single occupancy/private vehicles but would also benefit 
commercial vehicles and larger bodied vehicles capable of carrying large 
numbers of people.  Implementation of modal shift remained integral to the 
future transport planning policy for the Hub area and wider West Midlands 
region.

RESOLVED:

1. Noted the update on activity in the Hub and the work of the Urban 
Growth Company (UGC);

2. Noted the barriers and issues affecting access to economic opportunities 
in the Hub for communities in the borough;

3. To support the recommendation that proposals to improve access to 
economic opportunities in the Hub across communities be developed 
further through the Councils approach to delivering inclusive economic 
growth; and,

4. Agreed to receive a final draft for consideration at the Economic 
Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board of the Inclusive 
Growth Strategy.

7. BUDGET FRAMEWORK 2019/20 – 2021/22 

The Finance Manager (Managed Growth) presented the Budget Framework 
2019/20 – 2021/22 report to the Scrutiny Board, outlining the pertinent detail 
specific to the appendices relevant to the Managed Growth Portfolio.   The 
report sought comments from the Economic Development and Managed 
Growth Scrutiny Board concerning the Councils budget proposals for 2019/20 
to 2021/22 within the Managed Growth portfolio, to go forward to the Resources 
and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled for 6th February 2019 
and thereafter to the Full Cabinet meeting scheduled for 7th February 2019.

Members were further informed that the Budget Strategy Group had convened 
three times between August to September 2018 to consider budget pressures 
and mitigating actions, Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) updates, 
actual savings 2020/21 and any amendments to previously identified savings.  

Page 12



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

9 

Following delivery of the presentation, the Chairman sought clarification for a 
number of points related to the proposed increase in parking charges for 
Shirley town centre.  

The Chairman noted that Shirley had faced a number of challenges over recent 
years to keep the town centre commercially robust, and referenced the recent 
failed BID ballot attempt as one such example.  Clarification was sought as to 
what the likelihood was of achieving the additional £75,000 through the 
increase in parking charges proposed for Shirley. The Chairman sought further 
detail pertaining to what risks had been identified should the additional parking 
revenue figure not be realised, of any potential risk placed on local businesses 
located in Shirley in raising additional parking revenue and whether any risk 
rating had been applied against the additional parking charge proposals for 
Shirley. 

The Head of Highways Services  responded by referencing the increase 
applied to on-street parking charges in Knowle in 2018, and advised that local 
business needs continued to be met which appeared to be supported by a 
recorded 10% increase in user numbers to the area. Members were further 
advised that further options remained available, such as aligning on-street and 
car park charges, provide a set free period of on-street parking (‘stop and 
shop’)or extend long stay charges.  It was recognised that there needed to be a 
range of charges for different parking options.  The Scrutiny Board did not 
agree that a comparison between the retail conditions in Knowle and Shirley 
was comparable.

The Scrutiny Board raised the prospect of increased parking charges 
motivating shoppers towards the major supermarkets located in Shirley, due to 
parking accessibility, leading to an increase in supermarket footfall, which 
would be a potential threat to the commercial viability for business located in 
the high street.

Members were advised that no studies had been undertaken addressing any 
potential parking displacement in Shirley arising from the proposed parking 
charges. The Scrutiny Board was further advised that the proposed increase in 
parking charges was the first increase in ten years.

The Chairman reiterated the importance of the Council consulting with both 
residents and businesses in Shirley over the proposed increase in parking 
charges. With increased competition from online retailers, no business body in 
place (such as a BID) to co-ordinate a cohesive response to the Council and 
the proposal to reduce the three free hours to half an hour free parking , the 
issue of the setting of parking charges was viewed as a significant issue for 
businesses located in Shirley.  

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board:

Page 13



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 
January 2019

10 

RESOLVED:

1. Noted the recommendations for allocations from future business rates 
windfall income outlined in the report (paragraph 3.5) and agreed to feed 
comments back to the meetings of Resources and Delivering Value 
Scrutiny Board scheduled for 6th February 2019 and the Full Cabinet 
meeting scheduled for 7th February 2019.

2. Considered the changes to the three-year savings proposals as outlined 
in the report (Appendix B1) and agreed comments to be considered at 
meetings of Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board scheduled 
for 6th February 2019 and the Full Cabinet meeting scheduled for 7th 
February 2019.

3. Considered the savings proposals in the report (Appendix B2) and 
agreed comments to be considered at meetings of Resources and 
Delivering Value Scrutiny Board scheduled for 6th February 2019 and 
the Full Cabinet meeting scheduled for 7th February 2019; 

4. Considered the schedule of fees and charges proposed for 2019/20 
(Appendix C) and agreed comments to be considered at meetings of 
Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board scheduled for 6th 
February 2019 and the Full Cabinet meeting scheduled for 7th February 
2019; and,

5. Recommended to the Managed Growth Finance Manager that future 
Budget Framework report appendices detailing fees and charges 
proposals include an additional column allowing for each fee and charge 
listed to be identified as either a statutory or non statutory service 
requirement..

On learning of her pending departure from the Council, Members of the 
Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board thanked Lucy 
Lee for the professional support she had provided to the Scrutiny Board and 
wished her every success in her new career. 

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board meeting 
closed at 8:35 p.m.

Page 14



Meeting date: 5 March 2019

Report to: Economic Development and Managed 
Growth Scrutiny Board

Subject/report 
title:

Solihull Community Housing Delivery Plan 2019-20

Report from: Assistant Director Stronger Communities 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

George Daley – Lead Policy Advisor – Housing
gdaley@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected: 
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To present the draft Solihull Community Housing Delivery Plan for consideration.  

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To make any recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Environment and Housing. 

3. What is the issue?

3.1 Each year Solihull Community Housing (SCH) prepares a Delivery Plan which refers 
to progress made by SCH over the current year and sets out its objectives for the 
coming year, together with proposed performance targets.

3.2 The draft Plan is at Appendix A.  It is presented in SCH’s new corporate branding style 
which is intended to refresh the organisation’s image and better reflect the breadth of 
its business

3.3 The SCH Board received a final draft of the Plan on 26 February which was a day 
after publication of this report.  Should there be any changes these will be brought to 
your attention at your meeting. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 SCH has a five-year Future Strategic Vision (2017 – 2022) which sets the high-level 
framework for service delivery and collaborative work with partners.

4.2 The three aims of this are to Provide Homes; Improve Wellbeing and to Strengthen 
Communities

4.3 Within the Future Strategic Vision are four delivery themes, each looking forward to 
2022: Team, Service, Value and Growth. The planned outcomes of each are set out 
(page 14).

4.4 The Future Strategic Vision will be refreshed during 2019/20 and a new strategic 
vision for 2020-25 will be produced as a result. 

4.5 This review is being undertaken in part to reflect the changing policy context within 
which SCH operate.  For example, national policy changes such as the removal of the 
Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap and of the proposals regarding ‘high value’ 
properties which come available for reletting (i.e. ‘voids’), together with the recent 
Housing Green Paper, herald an operating environment which is more conducive to 
extending provision of social housing. 

4.6 SCH is committed to their role as a strategic partner of the Council and actively 
support the priorities of the Council Plan.  The draft Plan notes (at page 13) issues 
which SCH is particularly well placed to contribute in support: ‘increasing the social 
housing stock, developing and delivering wellbeing services, provision of specialist 
housing for vulnerable customers and the creation of conditions for communities to 
thrive’.

4.7 To support the development of this role, the draft Plan introduces 6 strategic priorities 
for 2019/20 on customer satisfaction, stock growth, safer homes, locality working, staff 
development and digital engagement.  For each, the draft Plan sets out how SCH will 
respond and what delivery milestones it has set itself. 

4.8 The draft Plan then sets out operational priorities for each of the main areas of 
business: Customer and business support, Housing and Communities, Asset 
Management and Development.

4.9 Annual or quarterly milestones for each strategic and operational priority are set out 
over pages 26 to 30 of the draft Plan.

4.10 The appendix to the draft Plan details SCH’s current performance against key 
indicators and proposes a target for each in 2019/20.  This shows that SCH is 
currently performing well against most indicators though the draft Plan notes four 
areas where performance has dipped and which will be a focus for improvement in the 
coming year: Rent collection, Responsive repairs, Gas servicing and Tenant 
satisfaction.

4.11 SCH is proposing higher targets for most indicators in 2019/2.  However, they have 
sensibly held or reduced a small number to ensure that targets are achievable with 
service improvement.  There will also be a number of new stretch targets with 

Page 16



quarterly step-changes for customer satisfaction in three selected functions.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 The draft Plan sets out a well considered body of work for the coming year which will 
improve services, support and develop people and communities, contribute 
significantly to Council objectives and develop SCH as an effective organisation.

5.2 It adequately meets the requirement of a delivery plan according to the Management 
Agreement. 

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan?

(a) Improve Health and Wellbeing – SCH will deliver a programme of work which 
will assist older, disabled and other vulnerable people in their homes, including 
the Disabled Facilities Grant, minor works programme and handyperson 
scheme. 

(b) Managed Growth – SCH propose a modest programme of new build and 
acquisitions in 2019/20 which will add to the stock of homes for rent and have 
signalled their desire to continue to undertake new development in future years 

(c) Build Stronger Communities – as the largest housing manager in Solihull, SCH 
is particularly well placed to lead and deliver aspects of the emerging approach 
on localities. 

(d) Deliver Value - SCH is committed to assisting the Council to achieve its 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). Their proposals for making the 
required savings were scrutinised through the Council’s Budget Strategy 
process and have been approved by Cabinet along with the Housing Revenue 
Account and Management Fee for 2019/20. 

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 The draft Plan lists the partnership boards on which SCH is represented and issues of 
interest are referred to in the draft Plan where relevant. 

6.2.2 At page 24 the draft Plan notes SCH’s approach to safeguarding and the planned 
introduction of a competency framework for multi-agency safeguarding training for 
selected staff. 

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 The Chief Executive of SCH will present the draft Plan at your meeting.

Page 17



6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 SCH receive an annual Management Fee from the Council for the delivery of devolved 
services. There are additional sums via Service Level Agreements for specific 
functions.

6.4.2 SCH is working within a Government policy of annual rent reductions to 2021 so the 
opportunity of revenue growth through rent increases is not available to them at 
present.

6.4.3 Annual financial savings to support the Council’s MTFS are agreed through the 
Budget Strategy Working Group. 

6.4.4 The major part of the Housing Capital Programme is spent by SCH including a share 
of the Disabled Facilities Grant.

6.4.5 SCH has received additional funds through allocations of Flexible Homelessness 
Support Grant during 2018/19 and this has expanded staff capacity which will be 
available throughout 2019/20.

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 The Management Agreement between the Council and SCH and the Memorandum 
and Articles of SCH set out the legal basis for its operation. 

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 SCH monitors risk on a quarterly basis within a well – defined framework and have 
formed a new Audit and Risk Committee which in 2019/20 will have a particular focus 
on ‘safer homes’ so that learning arising from the Grenfell Tower inquiry and other 
events will be applied to relevant areas of business.  

6.6.2 There are no red risks associated with the Plan. 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 SCH has the same obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty as the Council to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and to foster good 
relations between those who share a ‘protected’ characteristic and those who do not. 

6.7.2 The protected characteristics include age, disability, sex or gender, race, religion or 
belief and sexual orientation. 

6.7.3 The draft Plan commits SCH to activity to promote equality and diversity including Fair 
Treatment Assessments of services. 

6.7.4 This can lead to reasonable steps being taken to meeting the needs of protected 
groups, removing or reducing disadvantage, and activity aimed at promoting 
participation and understanding.  

Page 18



7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix A – Draft Delivery Plan 

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 N/A

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 SCH Management Agreement 

9.2 SCH Asset Management Plan 

9.3 Council Plan 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SCH Delivery Plan 
2019 / 2020

SCH Delivery Plan 
2019 / 2020

Page 21



3solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Contents:

 Foreword
1. About SCH
2. Delivering the Council Plan
3. SCH Future Strategic Vision
4. What We Will Deliver In 2019 / 2020
5. Finance And Risk

Appendix 1: Key performance indicators
Appendix 2: Governance structure

P
age 22



5solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Welcome to the Solihull Community 
Housing Delivery Plan for 2019/20

This Plan sets out SCH’s key delivery priorities for 
the coming year, building on the work done since 
2017/18 to progress the SCH Future Strategic 
Vision.

SCH Future Strategic Vision:

• Provide Homes;
• Improve Wellbeing;
• Strengthen Communities

At its heart the Plan is about 
partnership working:

• With residents – tenants, leaseholders and
others who use and help shape our services

• With the Council – supporting and delivering
activities to help achieve the priorities set out
in the Council Plan

• With other key partners – health services,
the police and fire services, housing
association partners, voluntary and charitable
organisations

Foreword
The fundamental partnership that we have with 
our tenants and other residents who use our 
services is a key theme of this year’s Delivery Plan. 
The work of SCH is primarily about supporting 
people, whether that is delivering services to 
individuals in need of specific housing related 
assistance or by generally improving homes and 
neighbourhoods, on our own and with others, to 
make them better places in which people can live 
and thrive.

Improving customer satisfaction and 
engagement, together with effective joint 
working with a range of partners, will increase 
prospects for achieving mutually beneficial 
outcomes within a challenging political, economic 
and social landscape.

Last year saw a number of significant 
developments for social housing. The Social 
Housing Green Paper promised in the wake of 
the Grenfell Tower tragedy was published in 
August 2018. Key themes included hearing the 
voice of residents, the condition and safety of 
homes, eradicating stigmatisation, improving 
performance and regulation of social landlords, 
and increasing the supply of social housing. SCH 
contributed to the Council’s response to the 
Green Paper consultation document. 

The decision not to implement the high value 
social homes provisions of the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 was welcome; as was the 
rather unexpected announcement that Housing 
Revenue Account borrowing caps were to be lifted 
altogether. We will continue to support the Council 
in maximising the opportunities that this, and 
any flexibilities on the use of Right To Buy (RTB) 
receipts, may create for increasing the supply of 
much needed homes for social rent in Solihull. 

The increased recognition of the importance 
of social homes for rent is positive, but very 
significant challenges remain. Brexit has 
dominated the political agenda, while Universal 
Credit, and other welfare reform and financial 
constraints, impact on many of our customers 
and requires that we continually reflect on how 
we can best maintain and, wherever possible, 
improve service delivery.

Solihull’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) shows that there are high levels of home 
ownership in Solihull (75% compared with 64% 
for England), but that housing costs are high 
and rising. 15% of the overall housing stock is 
Affordable Housing, lower than the West Midlands 
average. There are more households in housing 
need in north Solihull than in the rest of the 
borough. It is concerning that the homelessness 
acceptance rate is nearly double the England 
average. However, the number of households 
benefiting from efforts to prevent homelessness 
has risen considerably and the number of 
households in temporary accommodation is lower 
than the rest of England (1.1 per 1,000 households, 
compared to an England average of 3.4).

Maximising income collection in the current 
climate is increasingly difficult for all social 
landlords. The requirement for increased support 
for persons who are homeless or threatened 
with homelessness brought about by the 
Homelessness Reduction Act is positive in intent, 
but the practical delivery of sustainable housing 
alternatives is problematic. While the number 
of households in temporary accommodation 
is lower than the England average, there is 
increasing pressure on this provision and, 
regrettably, we have seen an increase in the need 
to use hotel accommodation as a short-term 
response to the need for immediate temporary 
accommodation assistance.

Nevertheless, we continue to make good progress 
towards achieving the SCH Future Strategic Vision 
and this year, looking forward, we will begin to 
consider how we may refresh our strategic vision 
and reset our vision for 2020 - 2025.

At the core of what we do is providing safe, 
good quality homes, improving the environment 
around them and promoting the wellbeing of our 
customers. This year, we have developed a fresh 
brand to better reflect the entirety of what we do 
and which, hopefully, our customers will readily 
recognise and be happy to associate with. 

SCH Chief Executive,  
Fiona Hughes

SCH Board Chair,  
Richard Hyde

4 Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020

P
age 23



6 7Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

1.1 Constitution and Governance 

Solihull Community housing (SCH) is an Arm’s 
Length Management Organisation (ALMO) 
established in 2004 to manage housing services 
on behalf of Solihull Council. We are a company 
limited by guarantee and we have a single 
shareholder, which is Solihull Council.

SCH’s Board is made up of four tenants, four 
councillors and four independent people chosen 
for their specialist skills and experience.

Our relationship with the Council is defined 
by a Management Agreement which specifies 
the services that SCH will deliver and how 
the Agreement is monitored and reviewed. 
This Delivery Plan is an integral part of 
the performance monitoring and service 
improvement process because it details how SCH 
will deploy the available resources in the most 
effective way to deliver the priority outcomes for 
the coming year.

A comprehensive performance monitoring 
framework is in place and progress against 
key performance indicators and the Delivery 
Plan priorities is reported to the SCH Board on 
a quarterly basis. The Council oversees our 
performance by means of a Quarterly Monitoring 
Board, which is chaired by the Cabinet Member 
for Environment and Housing. 

The governance arrangements for SCH consist 
of the SCH Board and its committees, as set out 

in Appendix 2. The framework includes a Scrutiny 
Panel made up of tenants and leaseholders.

The Regulator of Social Housing is now a stand-
alone body and, following the Green Paper 
consultation, it seems likely that Consumer 
Standards will be subject to increased scrutiny. 
Solihull Community Housing will continue to 
support the Council in ensuring that these 
standards are met.

Overall, SCH is uniquely placed through our 
connections to the Council and other partners, 
and through our closeness to local communities, 
to provide a holistic housing function and a 
range of other services for the benefit of Solihull 
residents.

1. About Solihull
Community Housing:

1.2 Organisational 
Management Framework

The SCH Executive Management Team (EMT) 
consists of the Chief Executive, Executive Director 
Housing and Communities, Executive Director 
Asset Management and Development, Executive 
Director Customer and Corporate Services 
(Interim), and the Chief Financial Officer.
A broader Operational Management Team 
(OMT) comprising senior managers (including 
the Executive Team) meets on monthly basis. 
SMBC Business Partners attend periodically and 
the group receive presentations from visiting 
agencies on matters of specific interest.

A Wider Operational Management Team (WOMT) 
comprising senior managers and their reports 
convenes every two to three months to receive 

business updates and conduct workshops on 
issues of topical importance.

This core structure of management meetings 
is the organisational hub for making and 
communicating key operational decisions. A 
further tier of subject specific groups meet 
regularly and report back into the hub, as set 
out in figure 1 below. Of particular importance is 
health and safety, and fire safety management. 

Two new groups were established last year 
to focus on the priority areas of customer 
satisfaction and engagement and staff 
development. The framework includes a range of 
Task and Finish groups focused on directing the 
delivery of specific projects and some of these are 
jointly run with Solihull MBC.

Title here, 
name here

Title here, 
name here

Title here, 
name here

Title here, 
name here

P
age 24



9solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk8 Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020

Solihull Community Housing - Fact File

We employ just fewer than 260 FTE staff

In addition, we maintain a co-located 
presence at the Better Living Centre 
and have a CCTV Control Centre located 
in an office in Kingshurst, which also 
accommodates the St Basil’s Youth Hub 
providing specialist prevention services 
for young people.

We manage just fewer than 10,000 
tenanted homes and some 1,200 
leasehold properties, together with just 
fewer than 5,000 garages and a small 
number of shared ownership properties.

SCH staff operate from three primary 
office locations: Endeavour House in 
Kingshurst, and the Asset Management 
Hub in Chelmsley Wood, together with a 
customer facing Housing Options Team 
in Chelmsley Wood town centre.

We manage just fewer than 100 
temporary accommodation units for 
homeless households in need of urgent 
accommodation, which are sourced from 
within the Council’s own housing stock 
and supplemented by 40 plus properties 
acquired through private sector leasing.

Figure 1: SCH Organisational Framework

Customer 
satisfaction & 
Engagement

Staff
Development

Group

EMT

OMT

WOMTFinance 
Monitoring

Health & Safety 
Corporate

Fire Safety
Management

Group

Asbestos
Management

Group
Project Review

Board

IT Programme 
Board

Stock 
Investment

Review

Home Options
Accomodation

Saxon Court

Task & Finish Groups

Allocations 
Policy

Lakeside

Housing
Stock

Development

Strategic 
Housing

Framework

Adult Services & 
SCH Joint Work

SMBC

HRA
Implementation

Safeguarding
Champions

1.

5.

3.

2.

4.

P
age 25



Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 1110

2.3  SCH Services
The housing functions carried out by SCH are delivered through the following core service areas:

In the calendar year 2018 we:

1  The Council also provide frontline customer access to SCH services through Solihull Connect
2  Human resources, equalities, IT, legal and financial services are provided to SCH from the Council

Council Homes

Let

8,851
Telephone calls were received 
into our Contact Centre

35,933
Repairs were carried out

Gas Services were carried out 

1,773
properties across all tenures had 
adaptations carried out

247
households were assisted with 
rehousing when homelessness 
could not be prevented or relieved

of rents due were collected

461
households where 
homelessness was 
prevented or relieved

20
Achieved a void 
turnaround of

days

Activities:
• Tenancy enforcement and estate services
• Tenure blind ASB response
• Income collection 
• Tenancy Support 

• Money Advice
• Housing Options and Homelessness
• Wellbeing Service: supporting people to 

continue to live independently

Housing and Communities

Activities:
This is a cross-cutting service area focused on customer contact and engagement providing support to 
frontline housing management teams:

• A telephone Contact Centre 1

• Supporting customer satisfaction and 
engagement activity

• Complaints handling
• Policy planning

• Safeguarding 
• Communications
• Performance management 
• Governance support 2

Customer and Business Support

Activities:
• Day to day repairs and void properties
• Compliance (e.g. gas servicing)
• Fire safety
• Managing the capital investment programme
• Increasing diversity of housing supply
• Asbestos

• Procurement
• Supporting the Council in the supply of 

additional homes
• Providing environmental services through the 

Better Places Team

Asset Management and DevelopmentP
age 26



Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 1312

• Health and Wellbeing Board
• Safer Solihull Board
• Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 1

• Solihull Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB)
• Housing Options for Older People Board 

(HOOP)
• Housing Options for Younger People Board 

(HOYP)
• The Solihull Together Board
• Domestic Abuse Priority Group (DAPG)
• Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 2

• Multi-Agency Homelessness Forum (MAHF)

• Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA)

• Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC)

• Harm Reduction Forum (chaired by SCH)

2.4  Working with our partners

Working in partnership is fundamental to our 
commitment to the borough and SCH is an active 
partner within the:

And at a regional level:

• The West Midland Mayor’s 
Homelessness Taskforce

1.  Local Safeguarding Children Partnership by September 2019
2.  Virtual member

The work of SCH is aligned with Solihull MBC’s 
Council Plan 2018-20 (A step to 2020, a stride to 
2025). 

The Plan sets out the Council’s 
Vision, Purpose and Values:

SMBC Vision: 
Where everyone has an equal chance to be 
healthier, happier, safer and prosperous through 
growth that creates opportunities for all.

SMBC Purpose: 
‘Great Lives and Great Services’ - to be an 
organisation that improves lives by delivering 
great services.

SMBC Values:
Open, honest, clear, approachable and keeping 
our promises.

2. Delivering the 
Solihull Council Plan

The Plan sets out five priorities 
which represent the major steps that 
need to be taken to move closer to 
achieving the Vision:

These priorities will be delivered through 
a comprehensive set of programmes and 
activities. The Plan looks forward to 2025 with a 
review in 2020. Through the work set out in this 
Delivery Plan, SCH is contributing in particular to 
increasing the social housing stock, developing 
and delivering wellbeing services, provision of 
specialist housing for vulnerable customers and 
the creation of conditions for communities to 
thrive. The SCH Chief Executive is responsible for 
the implementation of locality working across 
the partnership, which will also involve effective 
integration with the delivery of inclusive growth 
across the East Birmingham and North Solihull 
corridor.

1. Delivering inclusive growth
2. Planning and delivery of Solihull’s low carbon 

future
3. Managing demand and expectation for public 

services
4. Developing and delivering our approach to 

services for the most vulnerable
5. Making the best use of our people and 

physical assets

P
age 27



14 15Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

3. SCH Future 
Strategic Vision
SCH has a five-year Future Strategic Vision (2017 – 2022) designed to ensure that our service delivery and 
collaborative work with partners achieves impactful outcomes that are focused on meeting the priority 
needs of those we serve.

SCH 2022 Vision:

The Vision is underpinned by a set of specific objectives to be progressed through four key delivery 
themes, as set out below:

During the course of 2019/20, we will refresh our Future Strategic Vision 2017/22 and develop a strategic 
vision for 2020-25.

Provide Homes Improve Wellbeing Strengthen Communities

4. What We Will 
Deliver In 2019/20

Introduction

The SCH Future Strategic Vision (SCH 2022), 
objectives and delivery themes have directed our 
business priorities since 2017 and seen us through 
what has been a difficult period for social housing 
providers. 

Significant achievements have included:

• Restructuring of front line services, including 
Asset Management and Neighbourhood 
services

• Redesigned the homelessness service to 
comply with the Homelessness Reduction Act 
changes

• Launched a new Wellbeing service delivery 
model

• Developed and implemented a new Asset 
Management Strategy, 

• Developed new build schemes in conjunction 
with the Council, including a supported 
housing scheme for homeless persons and an 
extra care housing facility at Saxon Court

• Taken a lead role in the development and 
implementation of locality working

• Worked to maintain income levels while 
supporting tenants through a period of major 
welfare reform

However, since its conception, there have been 
some significant shifts in housing policy and, in 
this light, we will begin to review our strategic 
vision as we move through the coming year. In 
developing a refreshed vision and set of values, 
we will build upon the core elements of SCH 2022 

and re-articulate our longer term goals against 
the background of an increasing focus on the 
purpose, value and potential of social housing to 
create our vision for 2020/2025.

While the primary focus of SCH continues to 
be the delivery of core housing services, we 
are committed to playing our part in effective 
partnership working to deliver beneficial 
outcomes for Solihull residents and communities.  

Last year, SCH developed a new corporate brand 
which we began to implement in 2018/19. Our 
new brand reflects the core of SCH: 

• Creating Homes
• More Than Bricks & Mortar
• Strengthening Communities
• Customer Service
• Passion in People
• Working Together
• A Responsible Business

The new SCH brand better reflects the entirety  
of what we do now, our fresh outlook for the 
future and, in particular, our commitment to  
make a positive contribution to:
‘Shaping Our Neighbourhoods’.

P
age 28



16 17Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Strategic Priority 1: 

To deliver a step-change 
improvement in customer 
satisfaction and engagement 
with SCH services.

Satisfaction survey results have shown 
that customers are generally happy with 
individual service transactions, although our 
latest perception survey response on ‘overall 
satisfaction’ with the SCH service has shown a 
decrease over the year of 7% (down to 72%). 
Addressing this will be an absolute strategic 
priority for SCH. 

Effective customer engagement is key to ensuring 
we are delivering the services that customers 
need and in the way that they want to receive 
them.

How we will respond:

• Investigate the reasons for overall 
dissatisfaction

• Embed the importance of engaging effectively 
with customers across all service areas

• Increase SCH ‘visibility’ and opportunities for 
customers to engage with us

• Improve service delivery to customers

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Deliver improved customer satisfaction as 
measured through KPI outcomes

• Implement a SCH wide refresh of customer 
excellence training 

• Launch the Customer Promise and publish 
core service standards

• Review approach to tenant scrutiny
• Introduction of a new policy that will support 

earlier and swifter resolution of complaints
• Implement a revised customer engagement 

and involvement framework

SCH Strategic and Operational 
priorities 

In planning the 2019/20 Delivery Plan, we have 
identified a number of strategic and operational 
(service specific) priorities. 

These priorities are underpinned by our key 
performance indicators (KPI’s) for 2019/20. 
These targets reflect the Delivery Plan priorities 
and will help to drive improvement across key 
service delivery areas. Where benchmarking 
information is available, our approach to target 
setting for 2019/20 takes into account top 
quartile performance in line with the SCH Board’s 
aspiration to pursue excellent performance. When 
considering and setting targets, several other 
factors are taken into account:

• Historical performance
• Current performance
• Benchmarking, where available
• Resource requirements 
• Any legislative changes that have either taken 

effect or are due to be introduced in the 
period

• Organisational priorities as set out in the 
Delivery Plan

SCH Strategic Priorities 

SCH is introducing six strategic priorities 
for 2019/20, which are designed to further 
Solihull Council’s priorities, align with national 
policy imperatives, develop our staff and, very 
importantly, produce a step change in customer 
satisfaction and engagement.

Strategic Priority 2: 

Utilise opportunities for stock  
growth in the context of the Solihull 
Strategic Housing Framework and 
invest intelligently in the current 
housing stock.

The Strategic Housing Framework, which is a key 
programme for delivering the Solihull Council 
Plan, is developing policy proposals against the 
following priority areas:

1. Accelerating housing delivery
2. How affordable housing can meet local needs 
3. Improving the condition of private housing 
4. Private rented sector housing
5. Wellbeing and specialist housing 
6. Homelessness

This work is being overseen by a steering group 
comprising Directors from Solihull Council and the 
Chief Executive of SCH, reporting to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

The SCH Development function forms part of 
the Asset Management Directorate. Embedding 
the partnership arrangements with the Council 
to establish a development pipeline to grow 
social housing stock and add value is a priority 
for 2019/20. SCH has been effective in bringing 
forward developments to meet specialist needs 
or to make best use of problematic sites. Given 
the policy announcements on lifting the Housing 
Revenue Account borrowing cap and the potential 
for more flexible use of Right to Buy (RTB) receipts, 
this has been identified as a strategic priority.

SCH is ideally placed to deliver a local 
development offer given our position and focus 
within the borough as we:

• Are embedded within the community
• Are a local employer
• Have an ambition to increase the corporate 

footprint within the community
• Have a strong collegiate working relationship 

with Solihull Council
• Aspire to be a top performing social housing 

organisation
• Have a readiness to deliver an improved service 

offer through a commitment to undertake 
difficult projects

Effective, value for money, investment in the 
existing housing stock within SCH’s management 
remains a priority. The Asset Management

Strategy, approved in December 2017, incorporates 
an asset performance tool which is now being  
used to plan future stock investment decisions.  
A stock condition validation exercise has also been 
commissioned to inform this process.
The Asset Management Stock Investment Group 
was established jointly with Solihull MBC to provide 
oversight and challenge in relation to the review of 
the investment programme 2019-22, scrutinising 
assumptions made to date and ratifying key priorities.

During 2019/20 we will conclude the review of 
stock investment to facilitate the balancing of the 
HRA, with a concurrent focus on the following 
key areas of activity:
• Following the stock condition validation 

exercise, formally establish strengths and 
weaknesses and develop a stock condition 
action plan

• Highlight known future investment 
requirements, challenge proposals and phasing 
to align with budget allocation

• To develop and pioneer innovative procurement 
approaches to maximise funding opportunities

How we will respond:
• Embed the partnership with the Council to 

agree a development pipeline that will grow 
social housing stock and add value

• Deliver approved recommendations arising from 
the Asset Management Stock Investment Group

SCH’s stock growth and investment activity will 
complement the Council’s Green Prospectus 
approach, supporting Solihull’s transition to a low 
carbon, sustainable economy.

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:
• Collaborate with SMBC on specific projects relating 

to stock growth and new build activities
• Explore the potential for SCH future 

involvement in Council owned sites
• Explore opportunities presented by the lifting of the 

Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap to add 
to the social housing stock e.g. by increasing the 
acquisitions programme

• Start work on new build developments 
comprising 14 homes for shared ownership 
and 19 for social rent, including:

• Seven bungalows built to Passive House standards, 
providing energy efficient and environmentally 
friendly homes that deliver benefits in terms 
of fuel poverty and ‘green’ returns. The use of 
modular construction methods and utilising local 
labour, adds social value to our work and we will 
evaluate the potential for extending this form of 
development within the borough.

• Conclude the work of the Asset Management 
Stock Investment Group and deliver any 
approved recommendations

P
age 29



18 19Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Strategic Priority 3: 

Embed ‘Safer Homes’ as a core 
theme, integrating tenant 
engagement as an essential 
component.

The Social Housing Green Paper instigated 
following the Grenfell Tower tragedy was 
published in August 2018. A number of key 
themes emerged, not least of which was the 
safety and general condition of social housing 
stock, and associated engagement with residents. 
During 2019/20 SCH will embed ‘Safer Homes’ as 
a core theme, integrating resident engagement as 
an essential component. This will be progressed 
as a SCH strategic priority.

How we will respond:

• Implement learning from Grenfell Tower 
tragedy

• Investigate and implement good practice for 
effective engagement with residents

• Work effectively with partner agencies, in 
particular the West Midlands Fire Service

• Improved communication of key information 
and key messages

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Safer homes information on website, digital 
platforms

• Drop in surgeries at high rise blocks
• Monitor and implement recommendations 

from the Grenfell Tower inquiry, Hackitt 
Review 

• Deliver accompanied fire risk assessments, 
involving residents in the programme of 
annual fire risk assessments

• Undertake Type 2 and Type 4 (intrusive) fire 
risk assessments, which will inform strategic 
oversight of the fire integrity of purpose built 
blocks of flats within SCH management

Strategic Priority 4: 

Implement Locality Working.

During 2018/19, SCH led on the development of a 
locality working framework.

Significant progress was made last year, with a 
large number of stakeholders attending a launch 
event at the Renewal Centre. Attendees heard 
from Councillor Alison Rolf, Cabinet Member for 
Stronger Communities and Partnerships, Solihull 
Council’s Chief Executive, Nick Page, and our 
Chief Executive, Fiona Hughes, who is leading 
this work. These introductory presentations were 
followed by workshop sessions facilitated by 
locality leads from Solihull Council, West Midlands 
Police and SCH.

How we will respond:

• Embed the locality working framework, which 
will add value and consolidate SCH’s place-
shaping role.

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Develop wider locality networks that engage 
and embed the role of the health, voluntary 
and community sectors

• Launch three locality plans
• Review locality opportunities for family and 

case specific joint working with partners

Strategic Priority 5: 

Staff development 

Developing well-trained and motivated staff that 
display the skills and behaviours which reflect 
SCH’s focus on excellent customer service and 
improving performance is a key priority.

Human Resources (HR) have worked closely with 
the Chief Executive and the Executive Team to 
develop a detailed work programme. A new HR 
Business Lead has been appointed to provide 
additional capacity within the team to support 
delivery of agreed priorities.

How we will respond:  

• Deliver identified training priorities:
• Customer service excellence
• New behaviour framework as part of the 

appraisal process
• Mental health first aid training
• Safeguarding 
• Leadership development

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Roll out of a revised appraisal scheme
• Support for the development of responses 

and appropriate action plans to the employee 
engagement survey (TEDD), including the 
recently established Staff Engagement Group

• Review of HR policies, procedures and 
associated processes

• Development of the HR intranet and toolkits 
to support managers and promote self-
service

• Hold a staff conference 
• Deliver a leadership development and culture 

change programme for staff
• Development of a staff wellbeing strategy
• Equality and diversity briefings and training to 

the SCH Board and staff

Strategic Priority 6: 

Increase digital engagement:

Utilising the potential of digital technology 
is fundamentally important for redesigning 
our services in ways that improve customer 
experience and achieve value for money. Efficient 
automation, online convenience and high quality 
data will drive service improvement and support 
better engagement with customers. 

How we will respond:
• Better use of IT equipment and tools to aid 

effective working
• Improve the digital offer to customers 
• Better use of technology to improve 

communication and engagement with 
customers

Targeted actions for 2019/20:

• Ensure effective implementation of customer 
self-serve through ‘my SCH account’

• Implement a new CRM system
• Launch of a SCH ‘App’ for mobile devices
• Deliver an improved website and intranet

P
age 30



20 21Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Income collection: 
The continuing impact of welfare reforms, 
in particular the roll out of Universal Credit, 
has had a very significant impact on many of 
our customers and on our ability to maximise 
income collection. As such, this is a performance 
management focus for 2019/20.

Possession action is very much a last resort and 
our Income Collection, Tenancy Support and 
Money Advice Teams work hard to help people 
to sustain their tenancies. We have had some 
success in this area already and the ‘joined up’ 
work of our Income Collection, Housing Options 
and Money Advice Teams will ensure that this 
trend continues into 2019/20.

We will continue to work very closely with the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and 
Citizens Advice to mitigate, as far as possible, 
any affordability risks to customers arising from 
Universal Credit.

Last year, we tested the use of ‘Housing 
Contacts’: an auto-dialler system designed 
to tackle lower level arrears by maximising 
opportunities for direct telephone contact with 
customers. The aim is that such early intervention 
will prevent rent arrears problems escalating to 
less manageable levels. 

This year we will also give added impetus to our 
work in promoting the use of digital payment 
options by our customers. 

Estate Management: 
During 2019/20, we will be giving priority to 
improving our estate management service, 
in particular the external environment. This 
was an issue highlighted through our ‘Join the 
Conversation’ initiative whereby staff have been 
spending time in our local neighbourhoods 
speaking to customers to get their views on SCH 
services. SCH deal with fly-tipping issues and 
the Council take the lead responsibility for litter 
picking. A new KPI for estate inspections has been 
included for 2019/20, and we will work closely 
with the Council’s neighbourhood teams to 
achieve an improvement in this area.

Wellbeing Service: 
The SCH Wellbeing Service provides services 
to older and vulnerable people which support 
them to live independently in their own homes. 
This includes an alarm call service, contact / 
visiting support tailored to the individual needs 
of the customer, Handyman services and, where 
required, the use of assistive technology.

Effective partnership working at local and 
regional level is key to tackling homelessness. 
SCH will support the Council and other partners 
in delivering the objectives of Solihull’s new 
Homelessness Strategy, as well as contributing 
to the work of the West Midlands Mayor’s 
Homelessness Task Force, including the 
introduction of the ‘Housing First’ initiative. 

Domestic violence is one of the main reasons 
for homelessness. SCH manages the Sanctuary 
Scheme, which provides target hardening 
measures to enable some households to remain 
at home (those who choose to and for whom it 
is safe to do so). Domestic abuse is complex and 
the impact on victims, and any children in the 
household, is extremely traumatic. The Chartered 
Institute of Housing (CIH) launched its ‘Make a 
Stand’ pledge on domestic abuse last year and 
SCH has ‘signed up’ to the pledge. 

This involves delivering on four focused 
commitments by September 2019:

• Put in place and embed a policy to support 
residents who are affected by domestic abuse

• Make information about national and local 
domestic support services available on the 
website and in other appropriate places so 
that they are easily accessible for residents 
and staff

• Put in place a HR policy, or amend an existing 
policy, to support members of staff who may 
be experiencing domestic abuse

• Appoint a champion at a senior level in the 
organisation to own the activity being done to 
support people experiencing domestic abuse

SCH is leading on a review of the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Scheme. The review is 
progressing in two stages. By the first quarter of 
2019/20 we will bring forward recommendations 
for amendments to the scheme in response to, 
and to align with, the Homelessness Reduction 
Act changes. The second stage will address 
longer term, more structural, issues such as 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of operating 
a Choice Based Lettings system in the current 
climate. This work, which falls within the remit of 
the Council’s Strategic Housing Framework, builds 
on the foundations of an earlier review which 
was paused, primarily because of the impending 
changes to homelessness legislation. The review 
is timely as the Chartered Institute of Housing 
is carrying out research in this area as part of its 
‘Rethinking Allocations’ initiative.

The Council and SCH, with the full cooperation 
of St Basils and SIAS, worked together very 
effectively to prepare for implementation of 
the HRA changes. However, it is not always 
possible to predict the full implications of such 
a fundamental change and there has been 
significant learning from operating within the new 
legal framework during 2018/19. Having verified 
the need for extra resources, the recruitment 
of additional staff, funded mainly through the 
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant, will 
establish the capacity required to further develop 
the service as we move into the second year of 
operation under the new legislative framework.

During 2019/20 we will also be continuing our 
work to consider larger office space for the 
customer facing housing options team.

Increasing the range of prevention and alternative 
housing options is a priority area for development. 
Last year, SCH launched the Solihome scheme 
which aims to assist households with good 
quality privately rented accommodation. Not 
all households are in a position to access such 
accommodation but, as at the end of December 
2018, the scheme had assisted 25 households. 
We will look to further develop this scheme 
during 2019/20, utilising Flexible Homelessness 
Support Grant and pursuing any government 
(‘bid’) funding opportunities. We aim to assist 
40 households with suitable private sector 
accommodation in 2019/20.

Operational Priorities:

Housing and Communities

Housing Options and Homelessness: 
new duties introduced by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act (HRA) in April 2018, are placing 
significant additional demands on this service. 
The duties to ‘prevent’ and ‘relieve’ homelessness, 
to produce personalised housing plans and a duty 
on specified public bodies to refer persons into 
the service, have required the team to adapt to 
new systems and ways of working and, while the 
methods of recording are not directly comparable, 
evidence indicates that significantly more people 
are approaching for assistance. 

This increase in demand, together with the 
fact that we are working with customers over 
a longer period of time, has also resulted in a 
higher number of households requiring temporary 
accommodation.  As a consequence, there 
has been some placement of families in hotel 
accommodation. 

SCH is the Council’s main provider of 
homelessness services, with St Basils and the 
Solihull Integrated Addiction Service (SIAS) 
delivering services to particular customers. St 
Basils operate the Solihull Youth Hub service for 
16 to 25 year olds, and SIAS assist singles over the 
age of 25 and those of any age who sleep rough.

P
age 31



22 23Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Asset Management and Development

Stock investment: 
SCH will deliver stock investment through a capital works programme to the value of £16.1 million. 
The key projects are summarised below:

Repairs service: 

Performance on repairs ‘right first time’ and 
‘appointments kept’ needs to improve and this 
will be a priority focus for 2019/20. A Repairs 
Improvement Plan has been developed to drive 
increased performance in this area. 

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Deliver the Repairs Improvement Plan
• To put customer service at the forefront of 

the investment and repairs service via a new 
Customer Service Team

• Deliver a stock investment capital works 
programme

• Conclude the work of the Asset Management 
Stock Investment Group

• Refocus our compliance team to become the 
‘Safer Homes Team’, promoting simple, non-
technical speak and understanding for our 
customers

• Embed a safety culture across our managed 
stock, engaging with and involving our 
customers in the safety aspects of the homes 
they live in

• Improve performance on responsive repairs 
(right first time and appointments kept) by 
achieving the agreed stretch targets set out in 
the Key Performance Indicators

• Challenge existing practices to promote 
innovation to improve the services we 
offer through proactive staff and customer 
engagement

Customer and Business Support

Customer contact: 
The SCH telephone contact centre is the primary 
first point of telephone contact for our customers. 
A business priority for the coming year will be 
to deliver excellent customer service through 
the contact centre alongside implementation 
of digital options to facilitate self-service and 
improve customer access.

SCH will also be implementing its new complaints 
policy and processes to achieve earlier and 
quicker resolution of customers’ concerns.
 
Implementation of a new Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system. This is an IT platform 
that will enable us to deliver a better service 
through more effective management of customer 
contact information and support greater 
consistency of approach in key services. 
These activities will support the SCH strategic 
priorities to improve customer satisfaction and 
increase digital engagement.

Performance management: 
Outcomes from the annual HouseMark 
benchmarking exercise for the period ending 
31 March 2018, showed generally improved 
performance. Overall operating costs reduced, 
our relative financial position compared to peers 
improved in relation to housing management 
costs per property; responsive repair costs per 
property; and major works costs per property. We 
also saw an improvement in performance with 
void rent loss and void re-let time in top quartile.

SCH works closely with the Council to ensure that 
the service is aligned with the strategic priorities 
of the Adult Care and Support directorate. At the 
end of 2018, the new build extra care scheme 
at Saxon Court was completed and became 
operational. SCH developed Saxon Court in 
conjunction with the Council and we will also 
be providing housing management services to 
the scheme. This is an example of how SCH can 
help the Council to meet the need for specialist 
accommodation and during 2019/20, we will be 
developing a comprehensive supported housing 
offer. 

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Embed the Housing Options and 
Homelessness staffing and working 
arrangements to maximise prevention and 
relief outcomes requirements

• Continue our work to consider larger office 
space for the customer facing Housing 
Options team

• Further develop the Solihome service and 
achieve 40 placements during 2019/20

• Deliver the CIH Make a Stand pledge 
commitments by September 2019

• Bring forward Stage 1 recommendations for 
amendments to the Housing Allocations 
Scheme 

• Monitor and evaluate the impact of the 
Housing Contacts contract on low level 
arrears recovery

• Further promote the use of digital rent 
payment options

• Develop a supported housing offer 
• Improve joint working with Solihull MBC 

Environmental Services to provide a more 
holistic response to customers

P
age 32



24 Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 25

However, there was a deterioration in 
performance against some indicators and four 
areas of focus have been prioritised for 2019/20:

• Rent collection
• Responsive repairs – right first time and 

appointments kept
• Gas servicing
• Tenant satisfaction (identified as a Strategic 

Priority)

The KPI’s for 2019/20 are set out in Appendix 1.

During 2019/20 we will also look to enhance 
our performance management framework 
by establishing an agreed methodology for 
measuring and reporting on the social value of the 
work carried out by SCH. 

Governance: 

The SCH Board underwent a comprehensive 
training and development programme last year. 
During 2019/20 there will be a Board appraisal 
carried out in line with SCH’s Board Appraisal 
Policy. A fresh development programme will 
be developed based on the outcomes from the 
appraisal. 

During 2019/20 the Board will continue to assess 
its performance and in particular look to match 
strong corporate governance models in other 
organisations.

Safeguarding:

The Contact Centre Service Support Team 
carries out valuable work to assist the Children’s 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and 
delivers ‘face to face’ safeguarding awareness 
training to our wider workforce. A comprehensive 
programme of safeguarding awareness sessions 
was delivered to all SCH staff during 2017 and 
2018. 

This year we will introduce a competency 
framework for multi-agency safeguarding training 
for those staff that require a more advanced level 
of training because of the nature of their work. 
This training will be mandatory and embedded 
through the staff appraisal process.

Delivery milestones for 2019/20:

• Priority focus on improving performance on 
rent collection; responsive repairs (right first 
time and appointments kept); gas servicing; 
and tenant satisfaction.

• Carry out a SCH Board appraisal and develop a 
fresh Board development programme

• Introduce a competency framework for multi-
agency safeguarding training

• Continue to implement the new SCH Brand
• Agree an effective measurement that will 

enable us to report the social value of our 
work

5. Finance And Risk
SCH is committed to sustaining service delivery 
quality while consistently delivering savings 
to work within a defined management fee. 
Working closely with the Council, we have 
embedded a robust system of financial control. 
This has enabled SCH to also assist the Council 
in achieving its Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) by working on developing services that are 
aligned to Council priorities. We also contribute 
to the Council’s MTFS process by participating in 
the Council Budget Strategy Working Group that 
ultimately leads to the Council’s agreed MTFS.

Over the coming years, the SCH Board is 
committed to review how budgets are prepared.

The implementation of the Asset Management 
Strategy developed by SCH for Council housing 
stock will inform an intelligence based approach 
to future investment decisions that will consider 
the whole life cost of property. Capital investment 
for either property maintenance or development 
will be agreed through Solihull MBC. 

Risk Management

Any emerging issues arising from Delivery Plan 
activity will be identified and recorded on the 
relevant risk register. All risks will be monitored 
regularly in accordance with SCH’s Risk 
Management Framework.

The Grenfell Tower tragedy and subsequent 
inquiry and review processes increased the focus 
on the safety of homes, in particular fire safety. 
This was reflected in the Social Housing Green 
Paper published in August 2018, where safe and 
decent homes featured as a key theme. 

SCH is very concerned to ensure residents’ 
homes within our management continue to be 
safe. ‘Safer homes’ is a priority theme and our risk 
management oversight has been enhanced to 
reflect this. The SCH Board is taking a proactive 
role in the scrutiny of our fire risk and safety 
arrangements, with a new ‘Audit and Risk’ 
Committee having been established.

P
age 33



Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 2726

Strategic Priority

Delivery Plan Milestones 2019/20 Delivery Plan Milestones 2019/20

Strategic PriorityMilestones MilestonesBy When By When

1. Deliver a step-change 
improvement in 
customer satisfaction 
and enagagement

3. Embed ‘Safer Homes’ 
as a core theme, 
integrating tenant 
engagement as an 
essential component

2. Utilise opportunities 
for stock growth in the 
context of the Solihull 
Strategic Housing 
Framework and invest 
intelligently in the 
current housing stock

4. Implement Locality 
Working

5. Staff Development

• Deliver improved customer 
satisfaction as demonstrated by 
KPI outcomes

• Implement a SCH wide refresh of 
customer excellence training

• Launch the Customer Promise and 
publish core service standards

• Introduction of a new policy that 
will support earlier and swifter 
resolution of complaints

• Implementation of a revised 
customer engagement and 
involvement framework

• Deliver improved customer 
satisfaction as measured through 
KPI outcomes

• Review approach to tenant 
scrutiny

• Safer homes information on 
website, digital platforms

• Drop in surgeries at high rise 
blocks 

• Monitor and implement 
reccomendations from the 
Grenfell Tower inquiry, Hackitt 
Review

• Deliver accompanied fire risk 
assessments, involving residents 
in the programme of annual fire 
risk assessments

• Undertake Type 2 and Type 4 
(intrusive) fire risk assessments, 
which will inform strategic 
oversight of the fire integrity of 
purpose blocks of flats within SCH 
management

• Collaborate with SMBC on specific 
projects relating to stock growth 
and new build activities

• Explore the potential for SCH 
future involvement in Council 
owned sites

• Explore opportunities presented 
by the lifting of the HRA borrowing 
cap to add to the social housing 
stock e.g. by increasing the 
acquisitions programme

• Start on site:two developments 33 
homes

• Progress development of seven 
homes (bungalows) built to 
Passive House

• Develop wider locality networks 
that engage and embed the 
role of the health, voluntary and 
community sectors

• Launch three locality plans
• Review locality opportunities for 

family and case specific partner 
joint working

• Roll out of a revised appraisal 
scheme

• Support for development of 
response and appropriate 
action plans to the employee 
engagement survey (TEDD) 
including therecently established 
Staff Engagement Group

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1

Q1

Q1-4

Q1

P
age 34



28 29Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Strategic Priority Service AreaMilestones MilestonesBy When By When

5. Staff Development 
(continued)

Housing and Communities

6. Deliver digital 
engagement

Asset Management 
and Development

• Review of HR policies, procedures 
and associated processes

• Development of the HR intranet 
and toolkits to support managers 
and promote self-service

• Support for staff conference June 
2019

• Support to leadership 
development and culture change 
programme for staff

• Development of a well-being 
strategy

• Equality and diversity briefings and 
training to the SCH Board and staff

• Embed the Housing Options 
and Homelessness staffing 
and working arrangements to 
maximise prevention and relief 
outcomes

• Review temporary 
accommodation requirements

• Continue our work to consider 
larger office space for the 
customer facing Housing Options 
team

• Further develop the Solihome 
service and achieve 40 
placements during 2019/20

• Deliver the CIH Make a Stand 
pledge commitments by 
September 2019

• Bring forward Stage 1 
recommendations for 
amendments to the Housing 
Allocations Scheme 

• Monitor and evaluate the impact 
of the Housing Contacts contract 
on low level arrears recovery

• Further promote the use of digital 
rent payment options

• Develop a supported housing offer 
• Improved SCH website design and 

functionality and the launch of a 
SCH ‘App’ for mobile devices

• Ensure effective implementation 
of customer self-serve through 
‘my SCH account’

• Implement a new CRM system

• Deliver the Repairs Improvement 
Plan

• To put customer service at the 
forefront of the investment and 
repairs service via a new Customer 
Service Team 

• Deliver a stock investment capital 
works programme

• Conclude the work of the Asset 
Management Stock Investment 
Group

• Refocus our compliance team to 
become the ‘Safer Homes Team’, 
promoting simple, non-technical 
speak and understanding for our 
customers

• Embed a safety culture across our 
managed stock, engaging with 
and involving our customers in the 
safety aspects of the homes they 
live in

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q2

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q2

Q1

Q1 

Q1

Q2Q1-4

Q1-4
Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1-4 

Q1-4

Q1-4

Operational PrioritiesDelivery Plan Milestones 2019/20

P
age 35



30 31Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Service Area Milestones By When

Asset Management 
and Development

Customer and 
Business Support

• Improve performance on 
responsive repairs (right first 
time and appointments kept) 
by achieving the agreed stretch 
targets set out in the Key 
Performance Indicators

• Challenge existing practices to 
promote innovation to improve 
the services we offer through 
proactive staff and customer 
engagement

• Priority focus on improving 
performance on rent collection; 
responsive repairs (right first time 
and appointments kept); gas 
servicing; and tenant satisfaction.

• Carry out a SCH Board appraisal 
and develop a fresh Board 
development programme

• Introduce a competency 
framework for multi-agency 
safeguarding training

• Continue implementation of the 
new SCH Brand

• Agree an effective measurement 
that will enable us to report the 
social value of our work

Q1-4

Q1-4 

Q1-4

Q1-4

Q1

Q1-4

Q1-4

Operational Priorities

P
age 36



32 33Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

P
age 37



34 35Delivery Plan 2019 / 2020 solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

P
age 38



Get in Touch 
Join us on social media:

facebook.com/solihullcommunityhousing

@solihullhousing

solihullcommunityhousing

Solihull Community Housing

Freepost RLSS-UEBA-RTUZ
Solihull Community Housing
Endeavour House
Meriden Drive
Solihull B37 6BX

Phone:  0121 717 1515

Typetalk:  18001 0121 717 1515

Text:  07781 474 722

Email:  info@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Website:  www.solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 5th March 2019

Report to: Economic Development & Managed 
Growth Scrutiny Board

Subject/report 
title:

Kingshurst Village Centre

Report from: Assistant Director for Growth and Development

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

David Mackins, UK Central Project Manager
david.mackins@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected: 
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☒ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☒ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 As part of the work plan for 2018/2019 the Board requested a report on Kingshurst 
Village Centre Regeneration focussing on how the programme is building in the future 
opportunities for all parts of the community to benefit. Specifically the Board 
expressed a wish to understand how the Scheme:

 can contribute towards supporting healthier outcomes,

 has the potential to link up with and help strengthen the voluntary and 
community sector, and 

 could present housing development opportunities, including potential for 
different types of housing tenure to help meet local needs.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider:

a) the update on progress towards the regeneration of Kingshurst Village Centre,

b) the findings and recommendations of the Kingshurst Health Needs 
Assessment,

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



c) the identified opportunities to link up with and help strengthen the voluntary and 
community sector,

d) the proposed approach to housing development opportunities, and

e) to make recommendations as appropriate on the content of the Kingshurst 
Planning Brief.

3. What is the issue?

Background

3.1 Proposals for a comprehensive redevelopment of Kingshurst Village Centre are being 
progressed.  The Scheme, previously a North Solihull Partnership (NSP) project, is 
now led by the Council with development funding from the West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA). 

3.2 A different approach to the development of Kingshurst is required when compared to 
Chelmund’s Cross and Smith’s Wood which were led by NSP. This is because funding 
from WMCA is unlocked in stages following development of a Strategic Outline Case, 
an Outline Business Case and a Full Business Case. Approval of business cases at 
each stage takes approximately 4-5 months. Furthermore, unlike NSP projects, there 
is no existing delivery body in place.

3.3 Kingshurst formed part of the Council’s UK Central Phase 1 Strategic Outline Case 
submitted to WMCA which unlocked up to £4.96M to undertake development work 
and to fund early property acquisitions necessary to deliver the Scheme. Work is 
currently underway to prepare an Outline Business Case (OBC) which is scheduled 
for submission to WMCA over the summer. The OBC will be based on a preferred 
option design which will also form the basis of a planning application planned for 
submission later in 2019.

3.4 One of the key challenges for the regeneration of Kingshurst is land assembly, which 
is likely to be complex, time consuming and costly. Scrutiny Board last considered 
Kingshurst on 13th September 2017 which focussed on the issues arising from 
complete demolition of The Parade in terms of the impact on businesses and 
residents. The principles outlined in the September 2017 report which outlined how 
residents and businesses would be engaged and how impacts could be mitigated by 
phasing development have been key to the development of the scheme

3.5 An indicative masterplan layout was consulted on in autumn 2017 based on a small 
development area focussing largely on the footprint of The Parade and its immediate 
surrounds. This consultation demonstrated significant support for a scheme with a 
high degree of change. However, the analysis of this option showed that a small 
development area led to a constrained site with a compromised layout which risked 
replicating existing design shortcomings with the proposed new buildings. In addition, 
such a small area of redevelopment did not offer much opportunity for a 
transformational change that would fully benefit the wider community.

3.6 In order to progress development of the Scheme, to establish a design approach that 
is appropriately transformational, and which matches the needs of the local 

Page 42



community, a Planning Brief has been drafted. Community consultation on this 
Planning Brief started on 18 February and runs until 18 March. The Planning Brief1 
includes an evidence base for the Scheme. This evidence base underpins both the 
rationale for the necessary property acquisition decisions and the production of a 
Business Case to secure funding. The evidence base will also support a site-wide 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO), should one be required, to acquire the necessary 
properties. 

3.7 The rationale for extensive intervention in terms of the high level justification for 
demolition and redevelopment of the Village Centre is detailed in the Planning Brief. 
The Planning Brief includes consideration of socio-economic data and issues with the 
existing building design and condition. The need for regeneration of the Centre 
considers factors including: 

 The poor existing layout and condition of the buildings

 Existing retail offer

 Existing residential offer

 Existing primary community functions, including: health, library, youth services 
etc.

3.8 Two key conclusions from the Planning Brief are, that in order to deliver 
transformational change, firstly, the development area should be greater than just the 
footprint of The Parade and its immediate area; and secondly,  that in order to deliver 
a sustainable commercial centre, the retail footprint should be reduced. The Planning 
Brief also analyses movement across the site and identifies road alignment options to 
create a functional high street in the Village Centre.  Consultation on the planning brief 
is already live and the Scrutiny Board is asked to review the planning brief and make 
comment and recommendations as appropriate.  

3.9 The regeneration of Kingshurst Village Centre is a once in a generation opportunity. 
However, the success of any such scheme is not just about buildings – it is about 
people, community and services. Success will be judged on the levels of community 
appreciation of the Scheme and its impact on the lives of residents. The imperative of 
delivering a village centre that better meets people’s needs is recognised in the 
Council Plan under the Council Plan priority ‘Managing demand and expectation for 
public services’ and its related Programme: ‘Creating the conditions for communities 
to thrive’. The following Activity/Project is stated under this Council Plan priority and 
programme as: ‘Co-design a new place and a new model of service delivery to 
improve community well-being and health in Kingshurst’. A key feature of this specific 
work is stated in the Plan as: ‘To prevent & reduce need for complex services through 
prevention and targeted help. Working with the voluntary sector to enable community 
based support for those who need it’:

Supporting Healthier Outcomes

3.10 The Council has a ‘Kingshurst Project Board’, composed of a team of officers from 

1 http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Planning/Kingshurst-Planning-Brief-Consultation-Draft.pdf

Page 43



across a wide range of disciplines. This team acknowledges that improved health and 
wellbeing of the local community are important considerations for the Scheme that 
need to be considered throughout its development. In order to support the 
regeneration of Kingshurst, a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) has been undertaken 
by the Council’s Public Health service. ‘Need’ in terms of public health may be defined 
as the ability for people to benefit from a service or intervention. A systematic 
assessment of a population’s ability to benefit from interventions is known as a HNA. 
A HNA can be used to guide the allocation of resources to enable the needs of a 
population to be met in order to  reduce health inequalities and health improvements.

3.11 A wider determinants model (shown below in Figure 1) has been used in the 
production of the HNA. The model recognises that wider socio-economic, cultural and 
environmental issues can have a substantial impact on health and need to be 
considered. It is likely that the redevelopment of the village centre could affect these 
wider determinants directly which in turn have an impact on subsequent health.

Figure 1: Wider Determinants of Health2

3.12 In its present state, the condition and function of Kingshurst Village Centre are poor 
and do not support a healthy local community. However, the HNA helps identify the 
opportunities that the regeneration of Kingshurst has in terms of decreasing the large 
health inequalities that the local population experience.

3.13 The HNA concludes that there are a high proportion of young children who are 
particularly deprived in the local area, and that a holistic, whole life approach is 
important in helping to reduce such deprivation. Many health needs are secondary to 
modifiable risk factors, including smoking, obesity, alcohol use, sedentary and 
unhealthy lifestyles. In Kingshurst factors such as loneliness, a lack of feeling safe, 
and general dissatisfaction with the local area, along with poor private housing 
conditions, low education and occupational attainment all contribute to poor mental 

1. 2 A Social Model of Health, Dahlgreen & Whitehead 1991

Page 44



health and increased unhealthy lifestyle behaviours. Lack of engagement with some 
current primary care facilities contributes to poor preventative and early detection 
service uptake. Although there are community assets in the area, there is not enough 
awareness amongst local people of what they can offer. Despite these challenges, 
community relationships have been highlighted as a key strength of the current village 
centre.

3.14 The HNA goes on to make a number of recommendations for the regeneration of 
Kingshurst Village Centre in respect of the following Key Themes: Safety, Healthy 
Eating, Increasing Physical Activity, Smoking Cessation and Increasing Social Capital. 
A summary of recommendations is listed below:

 Increase awareness of community assets – currently there are numerous assets, 
though they are not well known enough about by the general community

 Involving key stakeholders – including residents, primary care and 3rd party 
providers - to discuss how to develop services in future

 Ensure that the design of the village centre helps facilitate social interaction and 
encourages community ‘dwell time’ 

 Ensure that the design of the redevelopment maximises  safety and incorporates 
features such as ‘passive surveillance -  feeling safe will increase community 
wellbeing and facilitate access to more local facilities

 Encourage healthy eating – access to fresh, healthy and affordable foods should 
be facilitated in the design and operation of the village centre.

 Increase physical activity – making the area more safe and engaging for active 
transport, alongside the development of local services encouraging physical 
activity

 Reduce smoking – incorporate education around this theme within community 
assets

 Increase social capital – improving social connectedness and encouraging local 
volunteering improves wellbeing and may be used as a gateway to services that 
encourage other healthier lifestyles

 Perform effective monitoring and evaluation. This work is an integral part of any 
intervention, and should be planned alongside any interventions that are 
developed.

3.15 The HNA is an important tool that will be used to guide development at Kingshurst and 
will be critical to achieving the Council Plan priority outlined in paragraph 3.9. It 
contains a number of cross cutting recommendations that affect various aspects of the 
Scheme. There are recommendations that inform the layout, design and specification 
of the built element of the Scheme. These recommendations are outlined in the Draft 
Planning Brief which will guide development on the site. They will also inform the 
client specification for detailed design of the scheme which is submitted to planning. 

3.16 There are further recommendations within the HNA which will influence the design 
and delivery of services at Kingshurst. These recommendations will factor into the 
delivery of the Council Plan identified in paragraph 3.9.  The Scrutiny Board is asked 
to consider and make any comments as appropriate on the findings and 

Page 45



recommendations of the HNA.  

The potential to link up with and help strengthen the voluntary and community 
sector (VCS)

3.17 Solihull has over 800 active community, voluntary and faith organisations and groups 
who all play a valued and important role in supporting and representing our 
communities. Through the ‘Creating the conditions for our communities to thrive’ 
programme, as stated in the Council Plan, the Council is committed to working 
alongside these organisations, groups and our residents to develop stronger 
communities. 

3.18 The aim for taking forward Solihull’s approach to developing stronger communities is 
to help deliver the Council Plan priority ‘Managing demand and expectation for public 
services’ as outlined in paragraph 3.9. The purpose is to enable:

 Children, young people and their families to thrive in their community, by providing 
community based solutions with a focus on prevention and early intervention and 
enabling people to look after their own health and wellbeing: ‘Things to do, places 
to go and people to listen’

 Adults and older people to be supported within the community to improve their 
potential and reduce and/or delay their need for health and social care services.

3.19 To help communities to thrive it is accepted that there is a need to focus on the five 
foundations of social value: people, places, the social and voluntary sector (VCS); 
public sector and private sector. The development of Kingshurst Village Centre 
provides opportunities to support this social value activity by redesigning the place so 
that the needs of the local community are fundamental to its design and by 
implementing the Council Plan priority outlined in paragraph 3.9.

3.20 The importance of the VCS has been recognised in the formation of a dedicated 
‘Community Group’ within the project governance for the Kingshurst project. The 
Community Group, which reports directly to the Project Board, will pull together key 
service areas and partners in order to deliver the priorities identified in the Council 
Plan.

3.21 As identified through the HNA, and informed by a number of community consultation 
events, both community assets and networking are an important wider determinant of 
health. Both have also been identified as a current strength of the area. Community 
assets include buildings, spaces, organisations and key individuals. It is 
acknowledged that these are not generally well known about by the general 
community. However, they do provide a platform from which there will be opportunities 
to understand and maximise the benefits of this development for both the people and 
the place. 

3.22 The Council intends to build relationships with residents and the VCS in Kingshurst 
and work together to understand and resolve issues, deliver community based 
projects, services and actions to achieve the following:

Page 46



 Give demonstrable outcomes that benefit the community and promote resilience 
and independence and address isolation

 Increase in volunteering and numbers of new confident and empowered 
community leaders 

 Increase neighbourliness, trusted networks and relationships within the community
 Increase in the establishment of new community groups which will be encouraged 

to  develop, become constituted and flourish

3.23 The approach that is being adopted is rooted in a strength-based community 
development approach where community assets, both places and people, deliver a 
wide range of sustainable health outcomes.

Housing Development Opportunities

3.24 The main planning objective for Kingshurst Village Centre is to create a new vibrant 
and sustainable centre with shops, medical facilities and a layout that is more 
appealing and accessible by a range of transport methods. This objective will be the 
primary driver and will influence decisions on the types and tenures of housing.

3.25 The Council adopted the Solihull Local Plan in 2013.  This Plan sets out a borough-
wide affordable housing policy of 40%. This 40% contribution includes social rented of 
65% and shared ownership of 35%. The social rented element is important as it helps 
meet housing need pressures from the housing register and homelessness.

3.26 In line with the Local Plan as set out above, the Council intends to provide 40% 
affordable housing in Kingshurst Village Centre. The Council is committed to providing 
a mixed tenure Village Centre development that meets the housing needs of the area 
and wider borough.  This 40% will be taken forward as part of the planning application 
and, if required, will be incorporated in any compulsory purchase order process. After 
approval has been gained, it may be possible for the proportion of affordable housing 
to be increased, subject to grant funding making it viable.

3.27 To keep options open in a changing market the Council is keeping open the choice of 
delivery vehicle. In order for the Scheme to deliver the Village Centre benefits for 
Kingshurst, the open market units are likely to be an important source of revenue. To 
help share the risk, these units could be delivered by a private housebuilder or a 
registered housing provider. In the current uncertain economic situation, maintaining 
this flexibility will help ensure prompt delivery once planning and any compulsory 
purchase order process is completed.

3.28 The affordable dwellings could be provided by either a registered provider or the 
Council, through Solihull Community Housing (SCH). SCH already manages the 
existing Council dwellings above the parade of shops. The redevelopment will require 
a decanting process and will need the rehousing of all residents.

3.29 As considered by the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board in 
September 2018, the Council is developing a Strategic Housing Framework which is a 
key programme of activity under the Council Plan. One of the projects currently being 
developed is that of different delivery vehicles for housing development that will better 
support the objectives of the Council. The Local Government Association’s ‘Housing 

Page 47



Advisors Programme’ is currently providing expert advice free to the Council in 
respect of delivery by ‘Joint Ventures’, delivering housing through the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and accessing institutional investment. This investigative 
work is due to complete in spring 2019.

3.30 As the Board discussed and recognised in September 2018, it is important when 
developing new housing that it meets a range of needs, including those of disabled 
residents. Adaptable and accessible homes are important to help disabled and older 
persons maintain secure accommodation and remain economically and socially 
active. The Council’s Building Design Group will be working up detailed plans for the 
housing at the village centre and will design to the government supported ‘lifetime 
homes’ standard.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 The regeneration of Kingshurst Village Centre is a complex project that will take a 
number of years to deliver. In order to deliver the project there are a number of 
options open to the Council in terms of design, delivery strategy, investment, 
partnership working and service delivery. The scheme requires the production of a 
formal Treasury compliant Business Case using the government ‘green book’ model 
which is the mechanism for making these key decisions. It is anticipated that an 
Outline Business Case will be taken to Cabinet and WMCA this summer with a full 
Business Case following in 2019.

4.2 Throughout the development process a number of design approaches have been 
considered. Initially a range of options to either partially or wholly refurbish The 
Parade were considered before complete demolition was adopted as the preferred 
approach. A number of layouts based predominantly on the footprint of The Parade 
and its immediate surrounds were considered prior to the draft masterplan 
consultation in autumn 2017. However, analysis and feedback from the autumn 2017 
layout demonstrates that any scheme on such a small footprint is unlikely to deliver 
transformational change. The Planning Brief seeks to overcome this issue by taking 
an evidence based approach to identifying the land that is required to deliver 
transformational change which will mean increasing the red line development area. 
The proposed area being consulted on is shown on the plan in appendix 3. Once the 
Planning Brief is finalised it will inform a detailed options assessment to identify a 
Scheme that will form a planning application.

4.3 This report sets out how the key topics of health and well-being, the VCS and housing 
development opportunities are shaping the project. As the project progresses, work on 
these topic areas will also develop.  The preferred option to maximise the benefit of 
this work is to work with local communities and service providers as outlined in the 
report.

4.4 Due to the length of time it will take to deliver the project, it will be imperative to 
consider the impact on the local community of the interim positions during work-in-
progress – in terms of the built environment, service delivery and work with the VCS. 
During regeneration there will be considerable upheaval to the local community which 
could put pressure on a number of services. However, the interim period will also be 
an opportunity for new approaches to be tried and tested.

Page 48



5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 The need to undertake regeneration of Kingshurst Village Centre is a clear priority that 
is recognised corporately in the Council Plan and is supported by funding from 
WMCA.

5.2 The rationale behind wholesale intervention in terms of the justification for demolition 
and comprehensive redevelopment of the Village Centre is detailed in the Planning 
Brief and embraces elements such as socio-economic data and shortcomings with the 
existing building design and condition. The need for a comprehensive regeneration of 
the Centre is based on factors including the existing layout and condition of the 
buildings, the retail offer, the residential offer and primary community functions, 
including: health, library, etc.

5.3 The evidence demonstrates that there are significant needs in the local community 
which cannot be addressed by physical development alone and as such there is a 
need to incorporate work on VCS activity and health and well-being into the project. 
This work will be important to the delivery of the priority specified in the Council Plan.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

The Scheme will comprise the comprehensive regeneration of Kingshurst Village 
Centre which will have a major influence on the local delivery of all key themes within 
the Council Plan.

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing

☒ Managed Growth

☒ Build Stronger Communities

☒ Deliver Value

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 The regeneration of Kingshurst Village Centre will fundamentally change the built 
environment in the local area and has the potential to change the services that are 
delivered by the Council, its partners and other organisations. This reports sets out 
how the needs of the community are proposed to be fundamentally integrated into the 
Scheme which is delivered.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 Community engagement and consultation has been fundamental to the development 
of the Scheme. Early engagement took place in early 2017 with subsequent 
consultation on a draft masterplan layout in autumn 2017. The Draft Planning Brief is 
currently being consulted on with the local community.

Page 49



6.3.2 In addition to direct project consultation and engagement, colleagues from other 
service areas such as the Public Health service have engaged with the community. 
Their work will also inform the design of the scheme.

6.3.3 The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board considered the 
regeneration of Kingshurst in September 2017, with a particular focus on community 
engagement.  

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 There are no direct financial implications at this stage.

6.4.2 The Scheme is being progressed using funding from WMCA. The UK Central Phase 1 
Strategic Outline Case unlocked up to £4.96M to undertake development work and to 
fund early property acquisitions required to deliver the Scheme.

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 In order to deliver comprehensive regeneration of Kingshurst it will be necessary to 
acquire a number of third party land interests. 

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 A risk register is maintained in accordance with the UK Central Project Management 
Framework. 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 A Fair Treatment Assessment (FTA) will be undertaken as the Scheme is developed. 
The FTA will be informed by the HNA and any feedback received during consultation 
exercises that have been and will continue to be undertaken.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix 1 – Planning Brief Proposed Development Area

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 N/A

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 N/A

Page 50



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Solihull Community Housing Delivery Plan 2019/20
	Appendix-1 - SCH Delivery Plan

	6 Kingshurst Town Centre
	Appendix 1 - Red line plan


